# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-20-2014

# Fairchild v. Kentucky Fried Chicken Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42237

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

#### NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from the Industrial Commission's decision denying Appellant Terence Fairchild's (hereafter Fairchild) claim for disability benefits in excess of his permanent physical impairment rating.

#### **COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

A hearing was held before all three Commissioners and post-hearing depositions were taken. The Commission's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on June 7, 2013. The Commission denied Fairchild's claim for disability benefits in excess of his permanent impairment rating finding that he had not suffered any accident related limitations or restrictions. Fairchild sought Reconsideration of the Commission's Order. All briefing of the parties on the issues was completed on August 5, 2013. The Commission's Order Denying Reconsideration was filed on May 12, 2014 and this Appeal was timely filed on June 20, 2014.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Overview

At the time of his industrial accident on November 13, 20014, Fairchild was a sixteen year old boy. Both he and his brother worked from an early age, even playing musical instruments for tips downtown, at the Coeur d'Alene Mall, and at weddings to help their disabled father make ends meet. Tr. April 17, 2012, p. 33, l. 6-8. Fairchild became an accomplished musician, who played in the Coeur d'Alene Symphony and Chamber Orchestra, Spokane Youth Orchestra, and the Spokane Symphony, and had a bright future ahead of him. Tr. April 17, 2012, p. 25-27. Because of Fairchild's musical ability and his family's low income status both

Fairchild and his brother were focused on serving in the military where they would have been able continue their musical education and perform in the military. Id. p. 27-29.

At the time of his industrial accident, Fairchild worked for Kentucky Fried Chicken (KFC) about fifteen hours a week where he cooked and cleaned after school. Tr. April 17, 2012, p. 20. He was paid \$7.16 per hour. Depositions, 3, Dan Brownell, p. 35, l. 11-12. Fairchild was muscular from lifting weights and doing extensive running and bicycle riding. Id. pp. 51, 22.

On November 13, 2004, while he was taking out garbage and cardboard to the KFC dumpster Fairchild slipped and fell. He landed directly on his kneecaps onto a two-inch concrete curb divider. Id. p. 82, 17-25. His injury did not resolve on its own, so on December 15, 2004, he went to an urgent care. He received work restrictions, but KFC would not provide him work within them. Id. p. 29, l. 19-24, p. 54, l. 18-25. Both Fairchild and his brother contributed one-hundred percent of their checks to household expenses. Since KFC did not schedule him to work for the number of hours he had been working and his family needed help keeping food on the table, he left KFC's employment and sought work elsewhere. Id. p. 33.

He tried working at the Target store in Coeur d'Alene. He was hired as a cashier but he had to perform other functions, such as stocking, that required him to kneel. He could not kneel because of his injury to his knees and management told him the job was not right for him. Id. p. 32. Fairchild graduated 'early' from high school by taking online course in 2005. Id. pp. 52, 57. Since he could not do construction or laboring jobs because of his knee limitations he finally go at job at McDonalds doing basic cleaning from 11:00 p.m. to 7: a.m. during the summer after graduation. Id. p. 34.

After graduation he began attending North Idaho College in Coeur d'Alene and he got a job at Carl's Jr. They were helpful and worked around his limitations. He was given a light duty job including delegating work to others. He worked there about two years. Id. pp. 35-36.

During his first year at North Idaho College, his family lost their home. Fairchild and his brother moved together into a duplex and his father moved to Spokane to live with a relative. Subsequently Fairchild met a girl who would become his wife and they moved into an apartment. Id. p. 42-43.

Fairchild attempted to pursue his music career in the military as planned but, despite his musical talent, the Air Force recruiter, after reviewing his medical records told him that he was not eligible. He also attempted, but was not permitted, to participate in the Army ROTC program at North Idaho College because he would not be able to go through boot camp. Later the regular Army recruiter had to also turn him down when he tried to enlist. Id. pp. 37-39, 63.

Fairchild received partial music scholarships after North Idaho College from Idaho and Eastern Washington, but with his young family commitments he could not make it work out financially. Id. p. 64. After he graduated he tried to use his two year associate degree from North Idaho College in music, but his job opportunities were limited to elementary schools and there were no music job openings. Id. pp. 69-71.

He was able to obtain employment at the Center Partners call center where he could sit down and move around from time to time from 2007 until 2009. He was laid off for ninety days and during that time he got a job at Panda Express in Coeur d'Alene. Panda Express accommodated Fairchild's physical limitations by not requiring him to do any lifting and limited him to preparing food and scheduling shifts for others. Id. p. 44-45. After he returned to Center Partners they had a mass layoff in July 2010. He was not able to find a job in Coeur d'Alene so

Fairchild and his young family moved to Vancouver, Washington. Fairchild's mother had an RV in her garage and she let them stay in it. Id. p. 43.

He finally found a job in Vancouver, through a friend, at Office Depot. After a lengthy discussion with management about his limitations because of his knee injury, the manager agreed to hire him for a part-time light duty job. Id. pp. 43, 46. Walking at work affects him because he is not able to walk properly with his knee injury, even while wearing his knee brace. Over the course of 19 months at Office Depot he had to leave work early four times. Id. pp. 47, 48, 51, 79. He earns \$8.95 per hour working part-time approximately 15-30 hours a week. When Fairchild asked Office Depot to increase his hours, they would always tell him that they don't have any full time positions for him. Id. p. 49. He is forced to receive food stamps to feed his family. Id. pp. 77.

Outside of his light duty work activities at Office Depot, Fairchild's activities are very limited. He has to spend most of his time sitting down. It usually takes him an hour to go to sleep because of the burning and sharp pain in his knees which, once he does fall asleep, usually wakes him up. Id. p. 49-50. His right hip, as noted in the medical records and the Functional Capacities Evaluation, continues to worsen as does his right knee. See Defendants' Exhibit 6 Tyco E. Kersten, MD. Since the accident he has lost thirty pounds and five inches of leg mass. Id. p. 50-51.

#### Medical Care and Opinions

Fairchild was referred from urgent care to Dr. Sims, a Coeur d'Alene orthopedic surgeon. On January 29, 2007, Dr. Sims recommended that Fairchild utilize a "functional brace" on his right knee. Claimant's Exhibits C, William F. Sims, MD, p. 7. On April 30, 2007, Fairchild was seen by orthopedic surgeon Tycho E. Kersten, M.D. for a second opinion. Dr. Kersten diagnosed

a "partial tear right knee PCL with Grade II injury pattern." He stated that "He certainly does have some laxity." He also recommended "further workup" for his right hip. He also stated that if Fairchild "were willing to take the risks of surgery" it could be considered. Defendants' Exhibits 6, Tycho E. Kersten, MD.

On September 20, 2007, the SIF had Fairchild undergo an Idaho Code § 72-433 examination by Drs. Pace and Wray. They reported to the SIF that he did not need any further treatment, had suffered no impairment, and had no restrictions. Claimant's Exhibits, F, MCN Report (Dr. Pace and Dr. Wray7: 9/20/2007), p. 6-8. The SIF asked Dr. Sims if he agreed with these SIF's physicians report. On October 8, 2007, Dr. Sims responded to an inquiry form sent by the SIF by checking it: "(X) No, I do not agree with the findings [of Dr. Pace]." Claimant's Exhibit C. William F. Sims, MD, p. 2. Dr. Sims, in a handwritten note to the SIF on that same form, opined that Fairchild does have increased laxity in his right knee (partial PCL injury) and according to "Table 17.33 AMA Guides to PPI this is consistent with a 3% whole person impairment rating-re mild cruciate ligament laxity." Id.

On April 23, 2009, Fairchild underwent a Functional Capacities Evaluation (FCE) by Mark Bengtson, MPT, who is a licensed physical therapist in Idaho and Washington. The FCE results confirmed Fairchild's right ligamentous laxity and likely chronic PCL instability. Mr. Bengtson opined that Fairchild should limit his standing/walking to occasional levels with a maximum of 50% of an 8 hour day. Claimant's Exhibits B. Mark Bengtson, MPT, p. 3-4.

On September 16, 2010, SIF had Dr. Pace conduct another Idaho Code § 72-433 examination of Fairchild. He advised SIF that his opinion had not changed. Despite Dr. Pace's statement that it was a little difficult for him to accept the Mr. Bengtson's test results and concerns, he informed the SIF:

#### "I think his knee complaints are real."

Dr. Pace's disagreement was not that Fairchild had real pain and limitations. His disagreement with the other physicians was with regard to the diagnosis of Fairchild's condition. He felt the diagnosis was bilateral patellofemoral pain syndrome. He did not believe any further medical care was required. Significantly, in the context of this appeal, Dr. Pace specifically informed the SIF that Fairchild had limitations and restrictions due to his knee condition:

"[Fairchild] might need some very specific limitations were he given a job that required a lot of stair climbing, ladder climbing, sprinting, or jumping. However in his current [part-time limited duty] job at Office Depot he should not require any specific restrictions."

Claimant's Exhibits, G, MCN report (Dr. Pace 9/16/2010), p. 5-7.

Four years after Dr. Sims described Fairchild's laxity in his PCL, on August 31, 2011, Dr. John M. McNulty examined Fairchild. He stated he agreed with Dr. Sims's assessment that Fairchild has a posterior cruciate ligament injury to his right knee. Dr. McNulty identified a significant difference in laxity between his right and left knees. He opined, at that time four years after Dr. Sims, that the condition of Fairchild's right knee laxity would worsen over time and that at that time the condition of his laxity was consistent with a 7% whole person impairment rating. Dr. McNulty also prescribed "continued use of his [right knee] brace." Claimant's Exhibits H, p. 1. Dr. McNulty also testified that the only disagreement he had with the FCE's test results was he felt he could stand or walk 75-80%, instead of the 50% stated in the FCE. Depositions 1, John McNulty, MD, p. 7. Dr. McNulty further testified that Fairchild's brace stabilized his knee when walking at low speeds. Id. p. 10.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Commission's finding that Fairchild suffered no accident related limitations or restrictions is supported by substantial competent evidence?
- 2. Whether the Commission's finding that Fairchild failed to prove that he is entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment is supported by substantial and competent evidence?
- 3. Whether the Commission's finding that Fairchild lacked credibility is supported by substantial and competent evidence and erred by requiring him to introduce supporting evidence even when his testimony is not contradicted?

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court exercises free review over the Commission's legal conclusions and in so doing it is to liberally construe the provisions of the worker's compensation law in favor of the employee, in order to serve the humane purposes for which the law was promulgated. However, the Court limits our review to determining whether the correctly denied benefits after it applied the law to the relevant facts. *Clark v. Shari's Management Corporation*, 155 Idaho 576, 314 P.3d 631, 634 (2013). The Commission's findings of fact will not be disturbed so long as they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. Id., Idaho Code § 72-732. *Vawter v. United Parcel Serv., Inc.*, 155 Idaho 903, 906–07, 318 P.3d 893, 896–97 (2014). "Substantial evidence is more than a scintilla of proof, but less than a preponderance." *Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 132 Idaho 513, 515, 975 P.2d 1178, 1180 (1999). Substantial and competent evidence is "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Matter of Wilson*, 128 Idaho 161, 164, 911 P.2d 754, 757 (1996).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Commission's finding that Fairchild suffered no accident related limitations or restrictions is not supported by substantial competent evidence.<sup>1</sup>

The Commission found that Fairchild suffered a right partial PCL (posterior cruciate ligament) injury to his right knee as a result of his industrial accident. R. p. 118 ¶ 35. At different times, post-accident, Fairchild was evaluated by five physicians including four orthopedic surgeons. Three of the surgeons (Drs. Sims, Kersten, and McNulty) opined that Fairchild suffered "laxity" in his right knee PCL. R. p. 117 ¶ 32. The opinion of the Surety's Idaho Code § 72-433 examining physician, Dr. Pace, that all three of the other orthopedic surgeons misdiagnosed Fairchild's condition, was rejected by the Commission. R. p. 117-18 ¶ 34.

Idaho Code § 72-422 defines "permanent impairment" as "any anatomic or functional abnormality or loss after maximal medical rehabilitation has been achieved.

Idaho Code § 72-422 provides:

"Evaluation (rating) of permanent impairment is a medical appraisal of the nature and extent of the injury or disease as it affects an injured employee personal efficiency in the activities of daily living, such as self-care, communication, normal living postures, ambulation, elevation, traveling, and nonspecialized activities of bodily members."

The Commission utilizes the AMA Guides, as a matter of practice because the Guides are the recognized authority in the area of impairment rating, to convert the "permanent impairment" into a percentage ("rating").<sup>2</sup> The AMA Guides 5 <sup>th</sup> Edition, utilized in this case by both Dr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "There are no limitations or restrictions associated with the injury as diagnosed by Dr. Sims. 'R. p. 138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Appendix 'A', *Dursteler v. Basic American Foods, Inc.*, I.C. 99-021419, Order Denying Reconsideration, p. 2.

<sup>8.</sup> APPELLANT FAIRCHILD'S OPENING BRIEF

Sims and the Commission defines permanent impairment as "A loss, loss of use, or derangement of any body part, organ system, organ function."

On December 13, 2005, Dr. Sims recorded in his chart notes that Fairchild had not been able to return to his prior level of function.<sup>4</sup> Thereafter, on January 29, 2007, Dr. Sims recorded that it was "reasonable" for Fairchild's to require the use of a "functional brace" on his right knee.<sup>5</sup> The Commission adopted Dr. Sims's medical appraisal that Fairchild had right knee PCL laxity that, without elaboration, he characterized as "mild." R. p. 118-19 ¶ 37. The Commission also adopted Dr. Sims's permanent impairment evaluation of "3% whole person rating for mild laxity." R. p. 118-19 ¶ 37.

By definition the Commission's adoption of Dr. Sims's opinions that Fairchild suffered a partial PCL (posterior cruciate ligament) injury to his right knee and had suffered a 3% whole person permanent impairment, Fairchild suffered from physical limitations and restrictions. Pursuant to Idaho Code § 72-422 and the AMA Guides 5<sup>th</sup> Edition, the fact that the Commission found that Fairchild suffered an accident-related "anatomic or functional abnormality or loss" that affects his "personal efficiency in the activities of daily living" means that Fairchild suffered accident-related limitations and restrictions. It was a clear contradiction therefore for the Commission to also find that Fairchild did not suffer accident-related limitations or restrictions. By definition the finding that Fairchild suffered an impairment precludes a contrary finding that he did not suffer any accident-related limitations or restrictions. While the Commission could have evaluated Fairchild's accident-related limitations or restrictions in the context of his disability, which it did not do because of its contrary finding, it cannot find that Fairchild

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Appendix 'B', AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition; Understanding the AMA GUIDES in Workers' Compensation, Fifth Edition (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Claimant's Exhibits C, William F. Sims, MD, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Id. p. 7.

<sup>9.</sup> APPELLANT FAIRCHILD'S OPENING BRIEF

suffered a permanent impairment that is entitled to a percentage rating, and then find that he did not suffer any accident-related limitation or restrictions. There is no substantial and competent evidence to support the Commission's finding that Fairchild suffered no accident-related limitations or restrictions associated.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Commission's finding that Fairchild failed to prove that he is entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment is not supported by substantial and competent evidence.

The Commission's initial err, finding that Fairchild had no accident-related limitations or restrictions associated with his right partial PCL injury to his right knee after finding he suffered a permanent impairment, triggered a cascading effect that led to the Commission erroneously analyze Fairchild's disability in excess of impairment.

The two vocational witnesses that analyzed Fairchild's disability approached their respective opinions from two distinctly opposite perspectives. Fairchild's vocational expert, Mr. Dan W. Brownell, undertook his analysis of Fairchild's disability in excess of impairment from the perspective that Fairchild had suffered accident-related limitations and restrictions. His primary basis his understanding of Fairchild's limitations or restrictions was the Functional Capacity Evaluation (FCE) results. As Mr. Brownell testified he utilized the FCE results because:

"I have to look at the most objective real life information that I can find in order to establish how functional the person would be on the job. In my opinion the functional capacities evaluation is the most important of most documents because that is a real life testing situation. The majority of doctors I have worked with. Also appreciate, respect and refer to FCE's. And it's information that I can use to truly put some rubber on the road in the job placement process...It [an FCE] is a direct line on how they could and would perform on the job." Depositions 3, Dan Brownell,

p. 8, l. 11-25-p. 9, l. 1.

The Employer/Surety's witness, Mr. Crum, disregarded the FCE results. He did so because he relied upon Dr. Pace's statement that, although Fairchild had specific limitations and restrictions which he attributed to a condition the Commission held he had erroneously diagnosed, Fairchild did not have any restrictions associated with the accident. Mr. Crum also misstated that Dr. Sims had reviewed the FCE, which he didn't because he was done after the last time he was involved, and did not give any permanent restrictions. Depositions 4, Douglas Crum, p. 10, l. 19-p. 11, l. 16. Also, despite Dr. McNulty's testimony that he agreed with the FCE, except that he would increase Fairchild's walking with a brace time, Mr. Crum took the position that Dr. McNulty had not mentioned any opinion regarding the FCE. Id. p. 11, l. 17-20. From this erroneous perspective Mr. Crum testified that he did not even engage in a labor market access evaluation because "there weren't any restrictions to work with." Id. p. 10, l. 13-15. From that perspective, and the lack of any job access evaluation, Mr. Crum testified that there was no basis to conclude Fairchild sustained any loss of earnings due to his injury. Id. P. 10, l. 5-7.

The Commission, after having erred in its conclusion that Fairchild had no limitations or restrictions, adopted the opinion of Mr. Crum, even after Fairchild's reconsideration brief identified the errs of Mr. Crum's report and testimony. In its Order Denying Reconsideration, the Commission still stuck to relying on Mr. Crum's fundamentally erroneous opinion as its basis:

"There are no limitations or restrictions associated with the injury as diagnosed by Dr. Sims. It was therefore not error for the Commission to rely on the vocational opinion of Mr. Crum, which was based on the conclusion that Claimant suffered no accident-related limitations or restrictions." R. p. 138.

Idaho Code § 72-425 provides that the "Evaluation (rating) of permanent disability" is an appraisal of the injured employee's present and probable future ability to engage in gainful activity as it is affected by:

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