Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-14-2015

Fairchild v. Kentucky Fried Chicken Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42237

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

ARGUMENT

A. Whether the Commission's finding that there is no persuasive evidence in the record that Claimant's impairment has impeded his ability to compete in the labor market is supported by substantial competent evidence.

In this particular worker's compensation proceeding as in many dealing with the issue of extent of permanent disability, if any, there is conflicting medical and vocational evidence. The usual medical roles are treating physicians, physicians who have rendered an independent medical evaluation requested by the claimant and physicians who have rendered independent medical evaluation requested by the surety. There is usually a vocational expert who testifies on behalf of the claimant and a vocational expert who testifies on behalf of the defendants.

The medical evidence in the record is somewhat conflicting. The Commission first directed its analysis as to the nature and extent of the work injury.

Claimant first sought medical treatment regarding his knee with Howard N.

Brinton, M.D., on December 16, 2004. After a thorough examination by Dr. Brinton, Dr. Brinton indicated his impression was, "Patella femoral pain following contusion to the patellas bilaterally." Def. Ex. 3 at 041. Claimant followed up on December 23, 2004, and on January 6, 2005, Dr. Brinton suspected possible internal derangement involving the left medial meniscus

posterior horn and ordered an MRI of the left knee. *Id.* at 038. Claimant underwent an MRI of the left knee on January 11, 2005. *Id.* at 033. Claimant returned to Dr. Brinton on January 13, 2005. Dr. Brinton noted that the radiologist thought the MRI findings may represent a stress fracture. Dr. Brinton discussed the case with Adam Olscamp, M.D., orthopedist, who reviewed the MRI and felt this was not intrachorticular and he couldn't definitely say this was caused by the original injury. At that time the patient's father requested a second opinion with Dr. Olscamp or Dr. Sims. *Id.* at 031. Dr. Brinton referred Claimant to an orthopedist. *Id.* at 029. Subsequently Claimant was seen for a headache with Dr. Brinton on July 21, 2005. The only other medical record generated by Dr. Brinton was on October 11, 2007, when he indicated that he agreed with the IME of William W. Pace III, M.D., orthopedic surgery, and Linda Wray, M.D., neurology, of September 20, 2007. *Id.* at 025.

William F. Sims, M.D., orthopedist, first saw Claimant on March 1, 2005. At that time Claimant had complaints of bilateral knee pain, left greater than right. Def. Ex. 5 at 068. Dr. Sims' assessment was (1) persistent bilateral knee pain following a slip and fall at work, left greater than right; and (2) probable right knee partial posterior cruciate ligament injury. *Id.* at 070. Dr. Sims explained to Claimant that he could not find any evidence of ligamentous injury to the left knee. He had reviewed the MRI and could not find any evidence of a meniscal pathology. Dr. Sims recommended an MRI of the right knee. Claimant returned to see Dr. Sims on December 13, 2005. *Id.* at 065. Claimant did not have the MRI as Dr. Sims suggested. Dr. Sims again recommended an MRI of the right knee. Claimant underwent MRIs of the right and left

knees on January 3, 2006. Claimant returned to see Dr. Sims on March 3, 2006. He was scheduled to see him on January 31, 2006, but apparently that did not happen. Dr. Sims recommended a diagnostic corticosteroid injection of the right knee and proceeded with that. *Id.* at 057. Subsequently Claimant saw Dr. Sims on March 31, 2006. At that time Dr. Sims did not have any further recommendations regarding operative intervention and discussed the possibility of a second opinion. Claimant again returned to see Dr. Sims on January 29, 2007. At that time he reported he had gone back to lifting weights as well as cycling. *Id.* at 055. Claimant reported that the corticosteroid injection helped for approximately three weeks. Claimant also reported he used to run a marathon a week and is now unable to run for any distances at all. *Id.* at 055. Dr. Sims indicated that he believed Claimant has a posterior cruciate ligament injury and that with the amount of laxity he has, Dr. Sims did not believe a PCL reconstruction would improve his condition. Dr. Sims again suggested a second opinion. *Id.*

Claimant saw Tycho E. Kersten, M.D., for a second opinion on April 30, 2007, an orthopedist in Spokane. Dr. Kersten's assessment was:

Partial tear right knee PCL with a Grade II injury pattern. He certainly does have some laxity. In the big picture, I think surgery is unlikely to change his symptoms and his condition much and, as such, I would be in agreement with Dr. Sims that conservative treatment is the treatment of choice here.

Def. Ex. 6 at 072.

On August 9, 2007, Dr. Sims recommended an IME. Def. Ex. 5 at 052. On October 3, 2007, Dr. Sims, after reviewing the IME report of September 20, 2007, by William R.

Pace III, M.D., orthopedic surgery, and Linda Wray, M.D., neurology, stated that Claimant does have increased laxity on the posterior drawer exam (partial PCL injury) which is consistent with a 3% whole person impairment rating. *Id.* at 050.

Dr. Sims was contacted by Claimant on June 29, 2010, and provided with a copy of the Mark Bengtson functional capacity evaluation ("FCE"). Claimant's counsel was requesting an appointment with Dr. Sims. Dr. Sims replied on July 13, 2010, stating, "I received your letter dated June 29, 2010 regarding Mr. Fairchild. I feel it would be in Mr. Fairchild's best interest to be seen by another physician for an independent medical evaluation." *Id.* at 048.

Drs. Pace and Wray did an independent medical evaluation of Claimant on September 30, 2007, relating to the injury at hand here as well as a prior injury of October 12, 2004, which is not the subject of these proceedings. Dr. Wray was the neurologist who addressed Claimant's October 12, 2004, head injury unrelated to this action. The IME doctors felt Claimant was stable regarding the knee injury and recommended no further treatment. In addition, they stated he has no permanent impairment as a result of the contusions to his knee of November 13, 2004. Def. Ex. 2 at 019. Further, they indicated that based on objective findings, they would place no restrictions on Claimant. *Id.* at 020. Subsequently Dr. Pace was contacted by the Surety regarding Dr. Sims' disagreement on the impairment issue. *Id.* at 012. Dr. Pace replied on October 18, 2007, "Partial posterior cruciate ligament injuries typically resolve completely with conservative treatment. They behave very differently from complete or partial anterior cruciate ligaments.

There is no laxity on my exam." (Emphasis supplied.) *Id.* at 011.

Claimant underwent a second IME with William Pace III, M.D., on September 16, 2010. Dr. Pace was provided with updated medical records including the Bengtson FCE. Def. Ex. 1 at 002. Dr. Pace noted the 2007 MRI showed no injury to the ligaments or the menisci. The posterior cruciate ligaments in both knees appear clean. *Id.* at 002. Dr. Pace had also noted that Claimant had complained of anterior knee pain with the posterior drawer test on the right but there was no instability noted with the anterior or posterior drawer testing in either knee. Dr. Pace further stated:

Based on those findings, I felt he was fixed and stable without any ratable impairment. Dr. Sims disagreed and made reference to the table in the guides that assigned whole person impairment for posterior cruciate ligament laxity. His diagnosis of posterior cruciate ligament laxity was apparently based upon physical examination findings. I responded with my opinion, which is that partial cruciate ligament injuries, if in fact one occurred, generally resolve completely.

Id. at 002-003. Dr. Pace concluded:

My opinion in this case remains unchanged. I believe Mr. Fairchild's current complaints are consistent with bilateral patellofemoral pain syndrome. This is common in young adults. There is no good curative treatment for it. Quadriceps strengthening exercises could be helpful. The physical therapist's comments regarding the "desperate need for a comprehensive lumbopelvic femoral balancing and strengthening program" are a little bit difficult for me to accept. This gentleman seems to be reasonably fit. He is working without any specific restrictions. I think his knee complaints are real. They may be minimally related to the slip and fall incident in 2004, but I would not consider that incident to be the major contributing cause to his present complaints.

As in 2007, I failed to find any evidence in support of a diagnosis of a posterior cruciate ligament injury in the right knee. I think this is sort of a case of "the emperor's clothes" and I doubt the physical therapist came up with this diagnosis on a blind basis, but probably read it in the documentation. Certainly there is nothing on the MRI to support the diagnosis and, as I pointed out previously, even if there were a partial posterior cruciate ligament injury in 2004, it would have

resolved by now. It is probably also worth noting that I find it difficult to work out a mechanism of injury to the posterior cruciate ligament that would be caused by a slip and forward fall on an icy surface. The injury described is much more consistent with contusions to the patellae than with an injury to either cruciate ligament.¹

Def. Ex. 1 at 005

Dr. Pace stated his diagnosis is bilateral patellofemoral pain syndrome and that more probably than not the single incident in 2004 was not the cause of his current problems with his patellofemoral joints. He further stated that Claimant was at maximum improvement in 2007 and remains so. He found no ratable impairment. Contrary to what Claimant states in his brief at page 8, Dr. Pace stated, "I would not place any restrictions on Mr. Fairchild." *Id.* at 006. Dr. Pace noted he carefully reviewed the FCE and failed to see the basis for restricting Claimant to light industrial work with limited standing. *Id.* at 006.

Claimant saw John McNulty, M.D., for an IME on August 31, 2011. Claimant's Ex. H. Dr. McNulty reviewed the MRI and noted a definite posterior cruciate ligament injury was not seen. Nevertheless he believed that Claimant has a posterior cruciate ligament injury to his right knee noting moderate laxity of the right knee. He gave Claimant a 7% whole person impairment and recommended strengthening exercises. *Id.* Of note is that Dr. McNulty did not give Claimant any restrictions or limitations.

¹ This is consistent with Dr. Brinton's original diagnosis of December 16, 2004. Def. Ex. 3 at 041.

Mark Bengtson, at the request of Claimant's attorney, did a WorkWell Functional Capacity Evaluation, the FCE, on April 23, 2009. The only objective test that Bengtson performed on the right knee of significance to him was:

The manual posterior drawer test was of significance to me in comparison to the drawer test, posterior drawer test on the left lower extremity, which is important to compare both. Some individuals have generally lax loose joints and they are equivalent bilaterally. His, in my opinion, was slightly lax and graded at a 1+ degree of laxity in the posterior drawer test on the right when compared to the same test on the left leg.

Depo. of Bengtson, p. 30, l. 24 - 31, l. 7. Bengtson performed multiple other tests on the right knee that were significant for no findings. He performed the same tests on the left knee that were significant for no clinical findings. *Id.* at 31.

The history Bengtson worked with was limited to what was relayed by Claimant and medical records from Dr. Sims of March 1, 2005, and January 29, 2007. *Id.* at 26. Bengtson's FCE was a measure of what Claimant performed that day, nothing more, nothing less. Bengtson offered no opinion or suggestion as to what might be the underlying source for medical cause of the FCE findings.

In summary, evidence considered by the Commission included that Claimant had no work related impairment – Dr. Pace; that Claimant had 3% whole person impairment from the work injury – Dr. Sims; and Claimant had a 7% whole person impairment – Dr. McNulty. Dr. Pace found Claimant had no permanent restrictions or limitations. Dr. McNulty did not give Claimant permanent restrictions or limitations although he concurred with the Bengtson FCE. Bengtson offered no opinion as to the cause of his findings. Dr. Sims did not give Claimant permanent

restrictions or limitations when he gave his impairment rating. The fact that Dr. Sims prescribed a brace during treatment is not evidence of a permanent restriction. *Id.*, p. 55. Dr. Sims also stressed the importance of quadriceps and rehab as the secondary stabilizer to PCL insufficiency.

Relying on the impairment of Dr. Sims is substantial competent evidence, particularly since he was Claimant's treating orthopedic surgeon at the time shortly after the occurrence of the injury. Relying on lack of evidence in light of opinions of Dr. Pace, Dr. Sims and the lack of other evidence that Claimant had permanent restrictions caused by the work injury supports the Commission's findings that Claimant's impairment did not impede his ability to compete in the labor market.

The conclusions of vocational experts are based upon foundational facts. Douglas N. Crum, CDMS, prepared a report of April 1, 2012, which was an evaluation of factors that might lead to a finding of permanent partial disability. Def. Ex. 13. Crum noted that, "... no physician has issued any permanent restrictions associated with the industrial injury to Mr. Fairchild's bilateral knees. Similarly, no physician has indicated that the FCE represents Mr. Fairchild's level of permanent physical function." *Id.* at 136. Consequently he concluded there is no basis to determine that Claimant sustained a loss of labor market access. Crum noted regarding the comments by Dr. Pace as to avoiding a lot of stair climbing, ladder climbing, sprinting or jumping activities that Claimant has never performed those activities in any of his prior job duties nor was required to do so. *Id.* at 136. Crum also concluded that Claimant did not sustain nor will sustain any measurable loss in wage earning capacity, noting

Claimant is earning a wage that is higher than his time of injury wage, and Claimant has earned more at every job he has held since the time of injury. *Id.* at 137. As such, Crum concluded Claimant has not sustained any permanent partial disability in excess of a permanent partial impairment rating. *Id.* at 137.

Dan Brownell prepared a preliminary summary report of employability at Claimant's request. Claimant Exhibit I. Brownell's report mistakenly states Claimant was making \$7.16 an hour working 40 hours a week. *Id.* at 001. Brownell reviewed a portion of the medical records, which apparently did not include reports from Dr. Brinton, the 2010 report from Dr. Pace and other medical records. Brownell relied on the FCE of Mark Bengtson and subjective information from Claimant indicating he needed sedentary employment. Brownell opined, "After a detailed analysis I have determined and opine that the Claimant has a 28% PPD inclusive of impairment." *Id.* at 004. Brownell did nothing to explain what the detailed analysis is or foundation for this conclusion. He doesn't reconcile the light duty category referred to by Bengtson, which Brownell relies upon, with his reference that Claimant is limited to sedentary work. Brownell states that in forming his opinion he relied on the FCE but mainly Dr. McNulty's impairment. Depo. of Brownell at 21, Il. 16-21. Dr. McNulty, in his report, does not address restrictions or limitations. Brownell did not explain how he can divine a restriction or limitation from Dr. McNulty's impairment or report. It is simply not there.

The Commission found, based upon substantial evidence, that Claimant had no permanent restrictions. As such, it found the opinions of Crum persuasive.

B. Whether the Commission's finding that Claimant failed to prove that he is entitled to permanent disability in excess of impairment is supported by substantial competent evidence.

Claimant has failed to carry the burden proving entitlement to disability in excess of impairment.

The definition of "disability" under worker's compensation law is "a decrease in wage-earning capacity due to injury or occupational disease, as such capacity is affected by the medical factor of physical impairment, and by pertinent nonmedical factors as provided in section 72-430, Idaho Code." Idaho Code §72-102(11). A permanent disability results "when the actual or presumed ability to engage in gainful activity is reduced or absent because of permanent impairment and no fundamental or marked change in the future can be reasonably expected." Idaho Code §72-423. A rating of permanent disability is "an appraisal of the injured employee's present and probable future ability to engage in gainful activity as it is affected by the medical factor of permanent impairment and by pertinent nonmedical factors." Idaho Code §72-425. Among the pertinent factors are the following:

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